Central Bedfordshire Leisure Strategy

Chapter 1: Leisure Facilities Strategy

January 2013



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The mix of urban and rural settlements within Central Bedfordshire, and the historical differences in approach to leisure provision favoured by the former local authorities has resulted in a diversity of leisure provision. In broad terms the leisure facilities and services provided in both the north and south Central Bedfordshire areas are similar, however, with closer examination the differences in quality, quantity and accessibility of individual services becomes clear.

Central Bedfordshire Council Executive Committee has sought the creation of a leisure strategy in order to adopt an holistic approach to the provision of sport, leisure and recreation facilities across the Council's area. The aim of the project is to assess current facilities and services, estimate future demand and thereby create a strategy which will assist the authority to deliver and facilitate good quality, sustainable, demand-led facilities and services.

The scope of the leisure strategy comprises three facility-based chapters which incorporate a range of indoor, built facilities together with open spaces and outdoor playing pitches, and in the fourth chapter it seeks to marry the facilities currently available, and those identified as being required, with the types of physical activities needed to support Central Bedfordshire's residents in pursuing a health, active lifestyle.

CONTENTS

	Page
Part 1: Introduction and Background	
Leisure Strategy Structure	4
Purpose and Scope of the Leisure Strategy	5
Part 2: Chapter 1: Leisure Facilities Strategy	
Scope of Chapter 1	8
Vision and Objectives	9
Part 3: Context	
General Context	11
Planning Policy Context	13
Implications for the Strategy	15
Part 4: Summary of Audit and Assessment	
Sports Halls	16
Swimming Pools	20
Health and Fitness	24
Squash	26
Indoor Bowls	27
Indoor Tennis	30
Part 5: Leisure Facilities Strategy	
Dunstable and Houghton Regis	34
West	36
East	38
Leighton Buzzard and Rural South	40
Part 6: Funding, Planning Guidance and Implementation	
Funding	43
Planning Policy	44

Part 7: Design Guidance	46
Part 8: Monitoring and Review	47
Part 9: Next Steps	48
Glossary of Terms and Abbreviations	49

PART 1: INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

The Leisure Strategy

Central Bedfordshire Council appointed Neil Allen Associates to produce four of the five chapters that will comprise the Leisure Strategy. Chapter 4, the Physical Activity Strategy is being produced in-house. The chapters are:

Chapter 1: Leisure Facilities Strategy

Chapter 2: Recreation & Open Space Strategy

Chapter 3: Playing Pitch Strategy

Chapter 4: Physical Activity Strategy

Overarching Leisure Strategy

In accordance with Government policy contained in the National Planning Policy Framework, each chapter of the Leisure Strategy will carry out an assessment of the current provision of identified leisure facilities across Central Bedfordshire in 2012, and estimate the respective leisure requirements which result from the growth in Central Bedfordshire's population up to 2031. The strategies for Chapters 1 to 3 will each be Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) which will detail an approach to facility standards and future facility requirements to be met through the planning process and will form material evidence and policy to inform the Council's emerging Development Strategy.

The purpose of the Leisure Strategy is to support the securing of new and improved facility provision, identify needs and priorities, address inequalities of provision, inform investment strategies of the Council and other bodies, provide a basis for management reviews and ensure that residents of Central Bedfordshire have access to good quality leisure and recreation facilities which enable them to be physically active. The Leisure Strategy does not include an evaluation of Central Bedfordshire Council's capital or management role in the delivery of some of the facilities in this chapter.

Status

Each element of this strategy has been prepared to provide guidance to assist all parties involved in the delivery of the Council's leisure requirements. It is intended that some parts will be adopted as Supplementary Planning Documents following adoption of the Council's Development Strategy proposed for early 2014. Until then this document as the Council's Leisure Facilities Strategy will attract some weight in decisions reached on planning applications.

Chapters 1 to 3 of the Leisure Strategy is derived from policies in the emerging Development Strategy for Central Bedfordshire in particular Policy 22 Leisure and Open Space Provision which identifies general requirements for provision.

In addition to the emerging Development Strategy the Leisure Strategy has also had regard to the National Planning Policy Framework and has been prepared in line with the methodology set out in the former planning policy guidance note PPG 17 and Sport England good practice guidance.

Chapter 4: Physical Activity Strategy will not be developed into a Supplementary Planning Document, but will provide a strategic approach to physical activity together with a detailed programme of activities.

Leisure Strategy Development

The development stages for all Chapters within the Leisure Strategy are set out below:

Audit & Assessment - Stage 1 of each chapter will comprise an audit and assessment which gathers evidence using the relevant methodology and research tools for each chapter. Facility inspections and stakeholder feedback will then be combined with the audit evidence to detail both the current and future provision required to meet the sport and recreation needs of Central Bedfordshire residents now and to 2031.

Issues & Options Report - Stage 2 is the Issues and Options Report which will present the key findings arising from the audit and assessment of each chapter and highlights the main issues affecting provision now and in the future. These key issues will be presented for consultation with a range of options to address the issues.

Strategy - At stage 3, the preferred options will be identified and developed into policies on provision standards and future facility requirements for approval by the Council's Executive Committee.

This document represents this stage of the process for Chapter 1: Leisure Facilities Strategy.

Action Plans – Stage 4 will be the preparation of an action plan to accompany each of Chapters 1 to 3. This will detail the delivery of the facility requirements identified in the strategy. In order to calculate developer contributions to inform the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and Section 106, each action plan will be fully costed.

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) Adoption – At stage 5 the strategy and action plans for Chapters 1 to 3 will undergo the formal consultation required for SPD's and will be adopted by the Council as Supplementary Planning Documents.

Purpose and Scope of the Leisure Strategy

Key Drivers

The strategic purpose of the four chapters comprising the Leisure Strategy is to provide a framework for the prioritisation, provision and development of sport and recreation facilities and opportunities in Central Bedfordshire. By highlighting deficiencies and opportunities for improvement, it will set the context for decisions about the priority and delivery of local provision up to 2031.

The key drivers supporting the development of the Leisure Strategy for Central Bedfordshire are:

- To create a robust evidence base on which to base planning policy/standards
- To identify appropriate locations for new/improved leisure provision to target need
- To secure appropriate leisure facilities & \$106/CIL contributions, to accompany new development

- To inform Central Bedfordshire Council's capital expenditure on new/improved facilities within its ownership
- To support Central Bedfordshire Council's responsibility for public health from April 2013 by
 ensuring sustainable, high quality sport and physical activity infrastructure and
 opportunities are provided to enable CB residents to live active lives, prevent ill health,
 improve overall health & wellbeing, and reduce care costs
- To ensure the number of adults taking part in sport and physical activity remains above the national average

Scope

The scope for each chapter of the Leisure Strategy is detailed within the respective Audit and Assessment Reports. The following summaries the scope for each chapter:

Chapter 1: Leisure Facilities Strategy – built, indoor sport and leisure facilities

Chapter 2: Recreation and Open Space Strategy – a range of open spaces (excluding sports pitches)

Chapter 3: Playing Pitch Strategy – outdoor sports playing pitches

Chapter 4: Physical Activity Strategy – a range of sports and recreation activities undertaken indoors and outdoors

Planning for Sport and Recreation

National Guidance

In June 2006, the Audit Commission's report; "Public sports and recreation services – making them fit for the future" made a number of criticisms regarding the strategic planning of facilities, resulting in poor provision in terms of location, quality and failure to meet changing needs and customer expectations. The report's recommendations identified a need to ensure that local authorities improved their strategic planning of sport and recreation provision by assessing current and future needs, collaborating with other sectors and working across boundaries in the procurement, planning and delivery of services.

In addition, there was a need for local authorities to appraise options for facility provision in a transparent way, testing the market to ensure that the best options were identified.

As the traditional means of facility funding such as the Lottery and Building Schools for the Future (BSF) diminished, new investment was occurring via Section 106 developer contributions, the Private Finance Initiative (PFI) and more recently the Community Infrastructure Levy; in order to maximise potential benefits of such investment Local Authorities required a clear strategic vision and direction.

The advent of a new planning system required Local Authorities to prepare Local Development Frameworks, and lessons learnt from early examinations of these suggested that a comprehensive needs and evidence base was necessary to ensure that future requirements were planned for accurately.

This approach is reinforced in the current Government planning policy set out in the new National Planning Policy Framework which seeks to protect the environment and promotes sustainable growth. Each council is required to prepare a Development Strategy which will be the main planning document for its local authority area, and sets out the overarching spatial strategy and development principles, together with more detailed policies to help determine planning applications. It also requires that supplementary strategies produced to

support the Development Strategy should comprise, or lead to, defensible planning guidance for sport, including an improved evidence base for the identification of the level of developer contributions required to meet the Council's strategic objectives for sport.

Sport England Guidance

Strategy production also conforms to guidance provided by Sport England that strategic planning for sport is essential in delivering appropriate facilities in the right location. In particular, this work is supported by Sport England through its Local Delivery Programme, and benefits from the lessons learned as the result of its Facilities Improvement Service. This assisted local authorities to improve the ways in which they plan for sport and recreation, enabling them to use key strategic planning tools such as Active Places Power which will allow authorities to develop a robust understanding and assessment of need which will then underpin local authorities planning for sport.

Local Policy

At a local level, Central Bedfordshire Council is a relatively new unitary authority formed in April 2009 which inherited a range of legacy policies from its predecessor authorities. In order to adopt a consistent approach to sports facility provision and provide a robust evidence base for its emerging Development Strategy, the Council identified the need for a comprehensive evaluation of leisure provision.

Health Agenda

There is increasing recognition that raising levels of physical activity provides a clear route to improving public health outcomes. The Department of Health has produced a number of reports and initiatives, 'Be Active, Be Healthy', 'Stay Active, Stay Healthy' and 'Healthy Lives, Healthy People' which identify and promote the link between activity and health improvements. When it assumes its responsibility for public health in April 2013 Central Bedfordshire Council will seek to assess activity needs and opportunities, and by working in partnership with a number of organisations, coordinate the delivery of a range of physical activity programmes. Chapter 4 of the Leisure Strategy, the Physical Activity Strategy, will detail the current national and local policies relating to healthy improvements, create a strategic and practical link between current and future activity opportunities, and enable Central Bedfordshire residents to access facilities and services which allow them to lead more active lives.

PART 2:

CHAPTER 1: LEISURE FACILITIES STRATEGY

This document comprises Chapter 1: Leisure Facilities Strategy and applies to indoor, built sports facilities.

Scope

The scope of Chapter 1: the Leisure Facilities Strategy encompasses all built sports facilities which are available to the wider community, including sports halls, swimming pools, health and fitness centres, indoor bowls and tennis, and squash courts. Specialist sports facilities which cater for regional or national level sport are outside the scope of this report, but Central Bedfordshire's role in facilitating such facilities is considered where they can be accommodated within the other proposals in this report.

To capture the sport and recreation facilities and opportunities offered in the village and community halls in Central Bedfordshire, a separate study is being carried out concurrently and the results will inform the Chapter 1 Leisure Facilities Strategy.

Methodology

Chapter 1 has been prepared by Neil Allen Associates in close association with officers and members of the Central Bedfordshire Council. Comprehensive use has been made in the initial assessment of the variety of strategic planning pools available from Sport England and these are detailed below. Throughout each stage of the process, a range of consultees, including national and local organisations, governing bodies of sport, leisure operators, contractors, users, sports clubs, town and parish councils and others have been invited to comment on current and future leisure requirements at opportunities set out in the Communications Plan.

The Audit and Assessment Report for built leisure facilities and the key findings detailed in the Issues & Options Report result from a combination of site inspections, detailed desk-based research using Sport England and other planning tools, and consultation with leisure operators and managers, together with initial contact with stakeholders.

Extensive use has been made in the initial stages of Sport England's strategic planning tools for sport, as follows:

• Active Places Power (APP) – APP is a database containing information on sports facilities throughout England. It includes local authority leisure facilities, as well as commercial and club sites. It was designed as a tool to assist in investment decisions across Government and to help local authorities carry out audits of their sports provision and develop local strategies. It also helps national governing bodies of sport in identifying and planning where they need to improve and invest in facilities for their participants. The site includes tools for detailed analysis, including thematic maps, reports, advanced queries and strategic planning tools, all of which have been utilised in this study. APP models the current situation and can examine the catchments of existing and potential facilities.

- Sports Facilities Calculator (SFC) the SFC was created by Sport England to help local authorities quantify how much additional demand for the key community sports facilities (swimming pools, sports halls and indoor bowls) is generated by populations of new growth, development and regeneration areas. It is designed to be used to estimate the facility needs of discrete populations, such as sports hall and swimming pool created by a residential development. Its use has several provisos which prevent it being used solely to estimate current and future demand, but it is useful in conjunction with other tools to assess the adequacy of existing provision, and highlight future needs.
- Facilities Planning Model (FPM) the FPM is a computer model which helps to assess the strategic provision of community sports facilities both now and in the future. The model has been developed as a means of assessing requirements for different types of community sports facilities on a local, regional or national scale, helping local authorities determine an adequate level of sports facility provision to meet their local needs and testing 'what if' scenarios in provision and changes in demand. This includes testing the impact of opening, relocating and closing facilities and the impact population changes would have on the needs of the sports facilities. The FPM is the most powerful tool available for estimating future need for facilities of a strategic nature.

Population Forecasting

Population figures used in the strategy were supplied by Central Bedfordshire Council, and other socio economic and demographic data were taken from Sport England's Local Authority profiles.

Vision and Objectives

Vision

The vision for Chapter 1: Leisure Facilities Strategy is:

plan and provide a network of high quality, accessible and affordable indoor community sporting and recreation facilities to meet the needs of Central Bedfordshire residents both now and into the future, through the combined efforts of the Council and other providers, and ensure that facilities remain fit for purpose, by refurbishment or replacement, throughout the term of the strategy

Objectives

The specific objectives for Chapter 1: Leisure Facilities Strategy area:

- To provide a balanced and consistent approach to the provision of indoor sports for all ages and abilities, which takes into account all needs and demands
- To make appropriate and commensurate provision for the increased demands brought about by new housing development
- To support the health agenda by making facilities for exercise appropriate and accessible to all
- To engage hard to reach groups and those not currently taking part in sport
- To sustain and increase where possible participation in indoor sports

- To ensure the number of adults in Central Bedfordshire taking part in sport and physical activity remains above the national average
- To enable a range of sports activities to flourish, including recreational, teaching, coaching, club growth and the development of excellence
- To promote principles of sustainability and good and efficient design
- To guide the investment strategies of Central Bedfordshire Council and other potential providers
- To ensure good management and value for money of Central Bedfordshire Council's facilities
- To ensure that additional facilities for sport contribute toward wider agendas including the economy, social cohesion, and community enjoyment

Consultation and Supplementary Planning Document Adoption

A Communications Plan for each of the Leisure Strategy chapters was prepared which defines the opportunities when a variety of stakeholders would be updated and consulted on the progress of each strategy. The list below highlights the major consultation opportunities for Chapter 1: Leisure Facilities Strategy. At each stage consultation responses have been incorporated in the development of this chapter and will be detailed in the statement of community involvement. This chapter also provides a summary of consultation responses in Part 4.

- Mar-Jul 2012 Site consultation with facility owners/operators
- April 2012 Central Bedfordshire Council Member Initial Consultation
- April 2012 Stakeholder Initial Consultation Events
- Nov 2012 Audit & Assessment Report and Issues & Options Report
 - o on-line consultation
 - o CBC Member consultation
 - Stakeholder consultation events

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) Adoption

In January 2013 the Council's Executive Committee will adopt Chapter 1: the Leisure Facilities Strategy.

• Summer 2013 - Supplementary Planning Document formal consultation

PART 3: CONTEXT

General Context

The Central Bedfordshire-specific contextual information supporting Chapter 1 is detailed in the Audit and Assessment Report. The following summarises the main background data and issues that underpin the strategy.

Population

The main characteristics of the local population at present are:

- Central Bedfordshire is the largest local authority in the East region, with a population of over 255,000 in 2010
- There is a slightly higher proportion of males than average, although females are still in the majority
- There are more people than average in the 16-19 and 35-49 age groups, and fewer people in the 25-34 age group
- There is more than the national average of pensioners (though fewer than the region)
- There are a very small proportion of non-white residents (4% compared with the national average of 11%)
- There are a smaller proportion of disabled people (7% compared with the national average of 11%).

The main changes that are estimated to occur to 2022 are:

- The overall population is expected to increase by about 35,000 people to over 290,000, representing a 14% increase over 2010
- There are projected increases in all age groups in absolute terms but wide variations in percentage increases large increases in the 10-14, 55-64 and 65+ groups, and smaller increases in the 0-4 and the 15-34 groups (the latter being main sport playing age group)
- The number of people in the 'active' age groups (i.e. mainly 5-44) is estimated to rise by about 8,000 people, but this only represents a 6% increase compared with the 14% increase in the overall population. The number of people in the 'inactive' age groups increases by 21%. It is estimated that by 2022 the number of people within the 'active' population is actually less than those who are 'inactive (47% active/53% inactive compared with 51/49% in 2010)
- The demographic changes alone suggest that (participation and other changes aside) future sports facility provision broadly needs to increase by 6% by 2022 compared with the present, not the 14% increase estimated for the overall population increase

• Conversely the increase in the 'inactive' population means that there is a need to consider other facilities and activities for the ageing population – there will be an additional 27,000 people over 45 and approximately 15,000 between 45 and 74

Other Socio Economic Indicators

- Unemployment (5.8%) is (2011) below the average rate for the region (6.6%) and England (7.5%)
- Adult obesity is about the average, but childhood obesity is significantly lower (14% compared with 19%)
- Life expectancy is about average (79 for men, 82 for women)
- Central Bedfordshire has a low deprivation score (from the Index of Multiple Deprivation) and is ranked in the best 20% of all local authorities in the country in terms of overall deprivation

Participation in Sport

Data taken from Sport England's latest Active People Survey (2010/11), showing 3 x 30 minutes sessions or more of moderate intensity activity per week, conclude that:

- Broadly similar levels of activity were maintained in Central Bedfordshire between 2005/6 and 2009/11 (22 -22.5%)
- Activity levels in Central Bedfordshire are generally slightly higher than the regional (21.9%) or national average (21.4%)
- Male activity levels (26.9%) are much higher than female (18.1%) and higher than the national average (25.2%)
- Female activity levels are slightly below the national average (18.9%), and have declined slightly since 2005/6

In terms of the other indicators set out in the Active People Surveys, Central Bedfordshire fares as follows:

- Relatively low levels of volunteering, and some decline since 2007/8
- Low and declining sports club membership
- Low and declining amounts of sports coaching and tuition
- Average but declining levels of organised sporting competition
- Average but growing levels of satisfaction with local sports provision

Market Segmentation

As an extension to the Active People Survey findings, Sport England has analysed the data on the adult English population to produce 19 market segments with distinct sporting behaviours and attitudes.

The five main groups in Central Bedfordshire comprise almost 50% of the local population, and these include three segments with high participation rates and some with low rates, demonstrating the varied population of Central Bedfordshire. There are some geographical variations in distribution, and some areas are more characterised by inactive groups – details of the location, type and distribution of market segments are set out in the Audit and Assessment Report.

Planning Policy Context

The Leisure Facilities Strategy must be considered in the context of other national and local policies and programmes. The policies currently in place which have the most relevance to the Leisure Facilities Strategy are as follows:

- National Planning Policy Framework, March 2012
 - The NPPF is a key part of the government's reforms to make the planning system less complex and more accessible. The framework acts as guidance for local planning authorities, both in drawing up plans and making decisions about planning applications.
 - Section 70 of the NPPF says "To deliver the social, recreational and cultural facilities and services the community needs, planning policies and decisions should:
 - o plan positively for the provision and use of shared space, community facilities (such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings, public houses and places of worship) and other local services to enhance the sustainability of communities and residential environments;
 - o guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, particularly where this would reduce the community's ability to meet its day-to-day needs;
 - o ensure that established shops, facilities and services are able to develop and modernise in a way that is sustainable, and retained for the benefit of the community; and
 - o Ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic uses and community facilities and services".
- Central Bedfordshire Council Emerging Development Strategy
 - The Development Strategy will be the main planning document for Central Bedfordshire. It will set out the overarching spatial strategy and development principles for the area together with more detailed policies to help determine planning applications. It is anticipated that it will be formally adopted in early 2014.
- Central Bedfordshire Council Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Documents (north) 2009 and (south) 2009
 - The Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) set out the Council's Policy for negotiating and securing planning obligations associated with new development in the North area.
 - The SPD's give guidance on when and how the Council will enter into planning obligations and the type of facilities and other benefits the Council expects developers to provide. It introduces a standard charge which may be applied for new developments.
- Central Bedfordshire Council draft Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule
 - o The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), as set out in the Planning Act 2008, is a new system of charging and collecting developer contributions and is intended to supplement other public sector funding streams to ensure that new community

- infrastructure (such as schools and health care facilities) can be provided to keep pace with population growth.
- OCIL is set locally and will become a standard charge per square metre applied to almost all developments. Social housing, buildings used by charities and buildings into which people do not normally go are exempt. The charge will be imposed at the time planning permission is granted and normally be paid at the commencement of development.
- o Whilst CIL will replace Section 106 contributions / Planning Obligations for general types of community infrastructure, Section 106 will still be used for site specific mitigation measures that are required to make a development acceptable (such as a new access road) as well as for affordable housing provision.
- o CIL is to be paid according to a Charging Schedule prepared by the Charging Authority. Central Bedfordshire Council is in the process of preparing their CIL. The estimated timetable for this document is:
- o Preparation of Charging Schedule to Winter 2012
- o Consultation on Preliminary Charging Schedule January 2013
- o Submission of Draft Charging Schedule Autumn 2013
- o Examination Winter 2013
- o Approval April 2014
- Central Bedfordshire Healthier Communities Strategy 2010-2031
 - o The strategy will be delivered by the Central Bedfordshire Health Improvement Delivery Partnership in order to realise a positive impact on the health and wellbeing of local people. The partnership is a multi-agency group whose key activities include the promotion of healthier lifestyles, and the provision of help to support people to lead healthier lives and ensure they have access to the high quality services which will enable them to do so.
- Central Bedfordshire Council Sustainable Communities Strategy 2010-31
 - The strategy was prepared by Central Bedfordshire Together, (Central Bedfordshire Local Strategic Partnership) and is intended to form the basis for all plans and strategies affecting the Council's area. The strategy's vision statement for the area is; "Globally connected, delivering sustainable growth to ensure a green, prosperous and ambitious place for the benefit of all"
 - o The strategy comprises two key themes to delivering this vision:
 - o creating the condition for economic success and community prosperity
 - o raising standards and tackling inequalities
 - o There are eight priorities which underpin the key themes:
 - maximising employment opportunities & delivering housing growth to meet the needs of our communities
 - o ensuring our local people have the skills to prosper
 - o keeping out communities safe
 - o nurturing a sense of pride and belonging
 - o getting around and caring for a green and clean environment
 - o promoting health and reducing health inequalities
 - o educating, protecting and providing opportunities for children and young people
 - o supporting and caring for an ageing population and those who are most vulnerable
- Sport England Strategy 2012-17 Creating a Sporting Habit for Life

 Strategy and investment to create a sporting legacy by growing participation at grass roots level, particularly among young people

Implications for the Strategy

The context and demographic projections detailed in the preceding sections, and their potential implications for future policy have all been considered in the development of the Leisure Facilities Strategy. These key issues can be summarised as follows:

- Central Bedfordshire has a large population with more people in the young adult and middle aged group, but fewer in the 25-34 group and more than the national average of people over 65. This demographic distribution suggests that a wide range of facilities may be required to accommodate different needs of the differing age groups.
- The current population is mainly white and there are low levels of disability.
- The population over the next few years is likely to increase significantly, but the increase particularly in the 50+ group is likely to mean that the 'active population' will increase only slightly. There will be an increasing need to address the demands of an older population for sport and recreation, particularly in respect of supporting healthy lives.
- There are low levels of unemployment and overall deprivation. Areas of relative deprivation are identified and appropriate provision will be targeted at areas of specific need.
- There are no significant health issues and life expectancy is the national average, but nonetheless the need to encourage active and health lives and combat health issues, through sports provision.
- There are slightly higher than average participation rates in sport, but a significant imbalance between female and male activity rates. A main aim will be to redress this imbalance.
- There are low levels of participation in volunteering, club membership, coaching and training and competition, though levels of satisfaction with sports opportunities are increasing. Future sports development should increase the opportunities to improve these levels.
- The population is mixed in terms of its market segments, with three of the main groups having higher than average activity rates. The main groups with low activity rates in sport are not well represented in Central Bedfordshire. Future participation is likely to remain buoyant, but continued analysis and targeting of facilities and services is needed to address the less active groups.

PART 4: SUMMARY OF AUDIT AND ASSESSMENT

Audit and Assessment

Full details of the audit of built facility provision are set out in the separate Audit and Assessment Report. This provides detailed information on quantity, quality and accessibility of facilities in accordance with the methodologies identified above.

The summary below is set out by facility type. For each facility the baseline 2012 situation is summarised, followed by the 2022 situation which assumes an increase in population but no changes to the current facilities. Using the identified tools from Sport England, 2022 is the latest date for which reliable forecasting is possible.

This is followed by an assessment of future requirements up to 2022 assuming a number of possible facility scenarios tested using the Facilities Planning Model (FPM). The issues identified result from the scenarios which were tested and compared in readiness for the development of the main strategy covering all facility types.

Sports Halls

Overview

In general sports halls in Central Bedfordshire are well located, a high level of demand is met (with the use of halls outside the area), facility quality is variable with many old halls, however, accessibility is good by car although less so on foot. There is a current capacity issue at the main leisure centre sports halls. There is no strong evidence supporting new sports halls, but there is a clear need to increase capacity now and in the future.

Summary of 2012 Situation

- There is no justification for additional sports halls to satisfy the unmet needs of the existing (2012) population in Central Bedfordshire. Supply of halls in CB is below the national average and apparently insufficient to meet locally generated demand, when supply takes into account actual availability and demand reflects comfortable usage of halls without being crowded. Despite this, however, almost all demand from CB residents is met by halls within CB and in surrounding authority areas.
- The main current issue for sports hall provision in Central Bedfordshire is the apparent high use of the 'public' halls at Flitwick, Tiddenfoot, Houghton Regis and Dunstable Leisure Centres, as well as the dual use halls at Biggleswade Recreation Centre and Sandy Sports Centre, which the model estimates are operating well above comfortably full levels. So while there is insufficient demand to justify a new hall to meet unmet demand, consideration should be given to providing additional capacity in the peak period at these or other halls to reduce the pressure on these facilities.
- Biggleswade is the exception to the above as it is the only main town without a 'public' sports hall. The provision of an additional hall here would need to consider the displacement of demand from other facilities, such as Stratton Upper School, Sandy Sports Centre and Shuttleworth College.

- Some increase in capacity could be achieved by additional access to other 'public' sports halls in Central Bedfordshire, mainly the school halls, such as Alameda Middle School, Redborne Upper School, Manshead Upper School and Vandyke Upper School, and those at Cranfield University and Shuttleworth College. The latter two facilities are not well located to accommodate additional use, being in smaller settlements remote from the main population.
- Increasing capacity at the main 'public' halls may be difficult to achieve without major rebuild or significantly increased opening times (which may be impractical).

Summary of 2022 Situation

- Future need for facilities is dependent on any increase in population. The impact of
 the increased population is however, mitigated by the ageing of the population, who
 traditionally have lower activity rates. Supply is still relatively low, and on a crude
 comparison is insufficient to meet locally generated demand within Central
 Bedfordshire.
- However, a larger than average level of demand is satisfied in 2022 (including at halls outside the area) and what levels of unmet demand exist are still not in sufficient concentrations to justify the provision of any additional halls in Central Bedfordshire to meet this criterion alone. New halls might be built but they would only succeed in displacing demand from other existing halls nearby. One possible exception might be the Biggleswade area, where there are no 'public' halls to serve one of the main towns.
- The main concern by 2022 remains the high usage of sports halls in Central Bedfordshire, nine (of the 20) of which now exceed their comfortable capacity, and in particular the main 'public' halls in the larger towns, but also the dual use centres in Biggleswade and Sandy and the Robert Bloomfield Middle School hall. So while there is insufficient demand to justify a new hall to meet unmet demand, consideration should be given to providing additional capacity in the peak period at these (or other) halls to reduce the pressure on these facilities.
- At the same time, some halls have reduced throughput, presumably as a result of decreased attractiveness, indicating significant refurbishment may be required. As with the 2012 situation, accessing halls with spare capacity could address capacity but facilities may not be best located to absorb additional usage.

Possible Facility Scenarios 2022

- In order to calculate the hall space required to meet the needs of Central Bedfordshire's growing population to 2022, modelling of four future scenarios has been undertaken to test the impact of changes to hall provision and condition to assess the different impact these changes would have on meeting future demand.
- The four scenarios were based around the 'public' halls and modelled new halls, refurbishment of halls, and closure of some facilities. The findings of these scenarios are considered in more detail in the Audit and Assessment, and refined in the Issues and Options report, to identify preferred options used as a basis for the strategy.

Consultation

Extensive consultation was undertaken at two stages of the strategy's preparation to test the initial findings of the Audit and Assessment, and help refine the Issues and Options into preferred options. Full details of the consultation can be found in the statement of community involvement.

Consultation 1

Sports clubs, sports governing bodies and town and parish councils highlighted the following issues at the first consultation stage:

- There are considered insufficient halls for community badminton clubs to be accommodated
- School halls do not meet the need for badminton particularly at exam times
- School facilities could be coordinated to accommodate badminton and other specialist facilities throughout the area
- An 8-court specialist centre for badminton in Bedfordshire could be justified, which could be of economical design and cost
- There is a reasonable justification for a 'public' hall in Biggleswade to meet local need for sports hall activities such as badminton
- Stratton School is very amenable to additional community usage, within the constraints of the existing management structure. There is potential to accommodate specialist facilities for particular sports (e.g. indoor cricket)
- The need for local facilities for local people in smaller communities needs addressing
- The school facilities at Harlington Upper School are acknowledged to be inaccessible because of the nature of the school management

Key Issues

The Audit and Assessment led to the development of a range of issue and options which are set out in more detail in the Issues and Options Report. These form the basis of the preferred options and policies set out in the main strategy below. In summary the key issues are:

- The assessment suggests that although there is relatively low provision, it is difficult to justify any more halls in Central Bedfordshire to meet unmet demand. Evidence shows that the construction of new halls would not achieve a higher proportion of satisfied demand because existing halls are shown to be well located to serve the major settlements and identified growth areas. Equally, improving upon the 8% unmet demand is unlikely to be possible, due to the rural nature of much of Central Bedfordshire.
- Evidence shows that the main 'public' sports halls in Flitwick, Tiddenfoot, Houghton Regis and Dunstable and others are at capacity already and will become more crowded by 2022, and that additional capacity may already be required to meet this concern in 2012.

- Central Bedfordshire relies on hall provision in neighbouring local authority areas to meet much of its demand.
- School sports halls offer an opportunity for community use. Many schools provide good community access to their sports halls, but some do not. There is a need to improve community access to school halls in the evening and at weekends, and possibly a role for management of community time to be coordinated throughout the area.
- There is the need for a range of halls of various sizes and types to allow all different activities to take place, including competitions, and to permit the development of specialist facilities for particular sports. If all secondary schools have a main sports hall which is available for public use, they could be developed with a different specialist facility in order to improve provision across Central Bedfordshire; however, the strategy does not seek to address the needs of specialist sports which are outside the scope of this report.
- The majority of sports halls (mainly those on school sites but also the main 'public' halls) were built over 30 years ago, and only half of these have been refurbished. There has been very little sports hall construction in Central Bedfordshire in the last 30 years. It can be assumed from this data therefore that the sports hall stock overall is not in prime condition, and is unlikely to be fully fit for purpose far into the future.
- In the current financial climate, the best way of funding new halls or hall improvements needs to be considered.
- The additional population in the new housing areas will significantly increase the demand for sports halls in the future, though not to the same extent as the increase in the population due to the ageing of the population. New provision could take place within the new housing areas, or be more centrally located to meet the demand from both new and existing residential areas.

Consultation 2

Sports clubs, sports governing bodies, town and parish councils and individuals highlighted the following issues at the second stage of consultation:

- Some concern about the loss of any sports hall in the Dunstable/Houghton Regis area, because of current usage. Facilities at both centres should be improved and extended over the coming years rather than reduced.
- In the light of people trying to lead healthier lives, which include taking part in various forms of sport, it is imperative that no leisure centres should be closed especially when they are already well supported by the general public. It is somewhere for the young to go instead of staying inactive at home or just 'hanging out' with their friends. There is not much else in the way of entertainment for them and the older people would miss the interaction with others in the same age group.
- A joint leisure centre for Dunstable and Houghton Regis is not supported. Dunstable
 centre is well located for local people. A joint centre could mean classes are difficult to
 get on to, the pool will be too full in the mornings and no one will get a decent swim,
 waiting lists, queues etc. will be longer. Jointly Dunstable and Houghton are too large to
 be served by one centre. Don't fix what isn't broken.

- The idea of a joint centre for Dunstable and Houghton Regis is not feasible due to the
 ever increasing population within these two areas and the added problems of
 transportation and easy access across the towns.
- As a resident of Dunstable and also a member of the HRLCAG and a current user of the leisure centre and a past member who used the swimming pool, Houghton Regis should keep its current leisure centre with the addition of a refurbished swimming pool and also the consideration of a new leisure centre for 2017. With the new proposed Woodside Link and the proposal to build 5,600 new homes in the Houghton Regis area, along with the current developments at the old quarry and the new guided bus way commuter link, it appears to be even more imperative that Houghton Regis has its own leisure centre. Run 3 (see Audit & Assessment Report) are therefore supported in the short term but also Run 4, a new centre in the longer term should be implemented as part of the leisure strategy.

Swimming Pools

Overview

In general swimming pools in Central Bedfordshire are well located, demand is met (with use of pools outside the area), quality is variable with many old pools, but accessibility is good by car although less so on foot. There is a capacity issue at present at the main leisure centre pools. There is no strong support for new pools, but a need to increase capacity now and in the future.

Summary of 2012 situation

- Unmet demand in Central Bedfordshire is the equivalent in total of about one additional pool over the whole area, but this is spread too thinly to warrant a new pool in any one location that would significantly reduce the unmet demand levels. The location of pools on the edge of and outside CB fulfils an important role in meeting CB's needs, through good accessibility of local residents, and CB residents therefore have ample access to pools. CB therefore currently relies on neighbouring LA areas to meet much of its demand for swimming.
- The main current conclusion for swimming pool provision in Central Bedfordshire appears to be the apparent high use of the Flitwick, Tiddenfoot and Dunstable Leisure Centre pools, which the model estimates are operating well above comfortably full levels. So while there is insufficient demand to justify a new pool to meet unmet demand, additional capacity in the peak period is required at these (or other) pools to reduce the pressure on these facilities.

Summary of 2022 situation

- Future facility need is dependent on any increase in population. The impact of the increased population is however, mitigated by the ageing of the population, who traditionally have lower activity rates. However unmet demand is still not in sufficient concentrations to justify the provision of any additional pools in Central Bedfordshire to meet this criterion alone. New pools might be built but they would only succeed in displacing demand from other existing pools nearby.
- The main concern by 2022 remains the high usage of now all 4 main 'public' pools in the four main towns. Despite a projected reduction in the usage of the Dunstable LC pool in the face of competition from the relative increasing attractiveness of the 'new' Luton Sports Village pools, the 4 main pools are all operating at or near absolute capacity.

• There is some spare capacity at the commercial pools, which meet less community use because of their membership policies and availability. <u>Additional capacity is therefore required to reduce the pressure on these facilities.</u>

Possible Facility Scenarios 2022

- In order to calculate the pool space required to meet the needs of Central Bedfordshire's growing population to 2022, modelling of three future scenarios has been undertaken to test the impact of changes to pool provision and condition to assess the different impact these changes would have on meeting future demand.
- The three scenarios were based around the 'public' pools and modelled new pools, refurbishment of pools, and closure of some facilities. The findings of these scenarios are detailed in the Audit and Assessment Report, and refined in the Issues and Options Report, to identify preferred options used as a basis for the strategy

Consultation

As with halls, extensive consultation was undertaken at two stages of the strategy's preparation to test the initial findings of the Audit and Assessment, and help refine the Issues and Options into preferred options. Full details of the consultation response can be found in the statement of community involvement.

Consultation 1

Sports clubs, sports governing bodies and town and parish councils highlighted the following issues at the first consultation stage:

The Amateur Swimming Association (the governing body for swimming) did not respond to the initial consultation, but the development of new pools or improvement of existing comply with the current strategic aims of the Association and the target for swimming facilities up to 2013.

- Tiddenfoot is considered inadequate to meet all the demands on it, and in particular during the day when there is no community use (the assessments above tend to consider only the peak hours which do not necessarily correspond).
- There is a local desire/aspiration for an additional pool in Leighton Buzzard.
- The recent closure of the pool at Houghton Regis is considered to have had a serious impact on local swimming, particularly on daytime school activity.

Key Issues

The Audit and Assessment led to the development of a range of issue and options which are set out in more detail in the Issues and Options Report. These form the basis of the preferred options and policies set out in the main strategy below. In summary the key issues are:

 Considering the location, size and availability, the existing pools meet a wide demand for recreational swimming, teaching and/or club activities. Swim clubs and others still experience difficult of gaining access at their preferred times, particularly in Leighton Buzzard.

- The assessment suggests that although there is relatively low provision, it is difficult to justify any more pools in Central Bedfordshire to meet unmet demand. Evidence shows that the construction of additional pools in new locations would not achieve a higher proportion of satisfied demand because existing pools are shown to be well located to serve the major settlements and identified growth areas. Equally, improving upon the 8% unmet demand is unlikely to be possible, due to the rural nature of much of Central Bedfordshire.
- Evidence shows that the main leisure centre pools in Flitwick, Tiddenfoot and Dunstable are already at capacity and will get more crowded by 2022, and that additional capacity may be required to address this concern.
- Central Bedfordshire does rely on pool provision in neighbouring LA areas to meet much of its demand, including the new 50m pool at Luton Sports Village
- Consultation reveals that the recent closure of Houghton Regis pool highlights a need for additional swimming pool space in this area.
- Consultation reveals some concern in Leighton Buzzard about the adequacy of swimming provision in the town.
- The role of commercial pools at health clubs in meeting the local demand for swimming has some potential and could be considered.
- The current quality of pools is considered good at present, but unlikely to be fit for purpose after 2020. There is an issue of age and functionality with some pools, many of which were built before 1990, although some refurbishment has taken place. Quality improvements will differ according to whether pools are replaced or renewed. By 2022 the existing pools will in some instances be in excess of 40 years old, and without significant investment their condition will have deteriorated to a degree where they are significantly less fit for purpose. This will have a corresponding effect on their attractiveness to users.
- The decline in the used capacity at Dunstable by 2022 (from 100% to 80%) shows that the pool's age and condition mean it has become less attractive to users who will choose to swim elsewhere. Without investment a similar effect may be expected on the other pools.
- In the current financial climate, the best way of funding new pools or pool enhancements needs to be considered.
- The additional population in the new housing areas will significantly increase the demand for swimming in the future. New provision could take place within the new housing areas, or be more centrally located to meet the demand from both these and existing residential areas.

Consultation 2

Sports clubs, sports governing bodies, town and parish councils and individuals highlighted the following issues at the second stage of consultation:

- As a resident of Dunstable and also a member of the HRLCAG and a current user of the leisure centre and a past member who used the swimming pool Houghton Regis should keep its current leisure centre with the addition of a refurbished swimming pool and also the consideration of a new leisure centre for 2017. With the new proposed Woodside Link and the proposal to build 5,600 new homes in the Houghton Regis area, along with the current developments at the old quarry and the new guided bus way commuter link, it appears to be even more imperative that Houghton Regis has its own leisure centre. Run 3 are therefore supported in the short term but Run 4 should be implemented as part of the leisure strategy.
- There is some support for the proposal is to replace the current Dunstable Leisure Centre.
- HRHCBC supports the immediate re-opening of the existing pool and the need to vary the current contract to include the managing of the pool. This action would achieve additional water space and meet local demand as well as drag back demand from outside the district (as identified in Options and Issues Report). With regards to the medium and long –term development on the existing site of a new leisure centre for Houghton Regis, HRHCBC recommends that the new centre should include a 6 lane swimming pool, 100 plus station gym along with no reduction in the provision and capacity enjoyed in the current facilities. Once the new centre is built then the old facilities be closed and decommissioned.
- Support for the existing pool at Houghton Regis Leisure Centre to be re-opened as soon as possible but the Council should also adopt Run 4 as their Leisure Strategy.
- The closure of the pool in HR has been a significant detriment to the local community. HRLCAG support the immediate re-opening of the existing pool with due consideration being given to varying the current contract to include the managing of the pool. This action would achieve additional water space, meet local demand and drag back demand from outside the district (as identified in Issues and Options Report). HRLCAG support the medium to long-term development on the existing site of a new Houghton Regis Leisure Centre with a 6-lane swimming pool, with no reduction of provision and capacity enjoyed in the current facilities. This will result in the closing of the current facilities following the build of the New Houghton Regis Leisure Centre.
- Some support for the present facilities in the area and how the local residents are making use of them. It would be wonderful for those living in Houghton Regis, and for the local schools, if it were possible to reopen the pool to schools residents and clubs. Pool facilities in the Luton area have undergone several closures during the last year and despite the opening of the 'Inspire' there has been a loss of several of the smaller clubs, (including Luton Youth Canoe Group). Not in favour of the closure of Dunstable and Houghton Regis and the building of a new joint facility as this will inevitably involve users with extra travelling. People need LOCAL FACILITIES that are easily accessible. Our roads are busy enough without adding vehicles for no good reason. Dunstable Leisure Centre is conveniently placed for residents of Dunstable and the Houghton Regis Leisure Centre is well placed for its local population.
- Need for a pool in Houghton Regis. Also welcome a new facility in the future as part of the future strategy. With this in mind recommend the refurbishment and reopening of the pool at Houghton Regis.
- User of the gym and pool finds the Flitwick Leisure Centre too small, particularly the pool. Swimming is important to health and recommended by the orthopaedic surgeon.

Health and Fitness

Overview

There is an apparent shortfall of health and fitness facilities in Central Bedfordshire, but good provision in neighbouring areas contributes toward meeting demand. Some additional local provision is justified at present. Future provision needs to be made in accordance with increased demand.

Summary of 2012 Situation

- Evidence shows that there is a significant shortfall of health and fitness stations within Central Bedfordshire of up to 600 stations (a station is a piece of fixed equipment). This general conclusion is mitigated by several factors however:
 - Rest of Study Area (ROSA) has a major surplus of stations when comparing estimated demand with supply, of 1400 stations.
 - The supply of stations in Luton, the LA most closely linked to Central Bedfordshire, has increased recently with additional facilities at Luton Sports Village and Lewsey Park, and average provision here is higher than in CB, although there is still a small deficit in provision here.
 - As with other types of sports facilities, there is an evident export of demand from Central Bedfordshire to neighbouring LA area.
- It is much more likely therefore that if any shortfalls exist in Central Bedfordshire, these are localised, and indeed the operators of the main 'public' leisure centres have highlighted some shortfalls in Leighton Buzzard, Flitwick and Biggleswade. Commercial clubs are likely to be meeting the members' only demand.
- There is therefore some justification for limited additional health and fitness provision, specifically in Flitwick and Leighton Buzzard. Private clubs could provide additional capacity, if access were available for wider community use where applicable.

Future Provision

- Unlike with sports halls and swimming pools, future provision was not assessed using the FPM or other Sport England tools. Future need for facilities is, however, dependent on any increase in population. The impact of the increased population is mitigated by the ageing of the population, who traditionally have lower activity rates. Even if increased participation in accordance with any local or national targets is not achieved, it is likely that additional stations will be required in the next 10-15 years over and above any planned increases at the present.
- Positive provision for health and fitness should be made particularly in conjunction with new housing development throughout Central Bedfordshire.

Consultation

Consultation 1

Consultation took place in the same way as for sports halls and swimming pools. Sports clubs, sports governing bodies and town and parish councils highlighted the following issues at the first consultation stage:

- Provision for health and fitness needs to account for participation by young people
- Some public sector operators identify a need for additional stations (commercial managers were reluctant to provide data, and it must be assumed that there is a balance in commercial provision because of market factors)
- Flitwick Leisure Centre already demonstrates a need for more stations at peak times, while Tiddenfoot Leisure Centre managers suggest capacity has been reached.
- Houghton Regis Leisure Centre has upgraded its gym from 15 to 65 stations as part of the modernisation process recently undertaken.
- Saxon Pool & Leisure Centre gym has also been updated but the free weights section is identified as inadequate.

Key Issues

The Audit and Assessment led to the development of a range of issue and options which are set out in more detail in the Issues and Options Report. These form the basis of the preferred options and policies set out in the main strategy below. In summary the key issues are:

- The assessment has found that health and fitness provision in Central Bedfordshire is well below average. Central Bedfordshire does rely on fitness provision in neighbouring LA areas to meet much of its demand. Additional provision is indicated.
- It is clear that most health and fitness centres are in good condition, only one centre has not been built or refurbished since 2000, and the condition and range of main and ancillary facilities meets current requirements. Quality and condition need to be maintained to keep facilities fit for purpose over the period of the strategy.
- The additional population in the new housing areas will significantly increase the demand for health and fitness centres in the future. New provision could take place within the new housing areas, or be more centrally located to meet the demand from both these and existing built up areas.
- Access to health and fitness centres needs to be equitable for the whole community –
 there need to be enough health and fitness facilities available on a pay and play basis,
 and all sections of the population should be catered for, e.g. young people, senior
 residents, disabled.
- The scale and size of new health and fitness centres will be determined by demand, and the need to make other provision sustainable. Therefore, a new facility is only likely to be built if it is economically viable and sustainable to do so as part of other provision e.g. in conjunction with a new sports hall, swimming pool or AGP.
- The optimum size of health and fitness centres may depend on a range of factors, and there is no ideal number of stations per centre.

Consultation 2

No comments were received specifically on health and fitness facilities.

Squash

Overview

The current provision for squash is good in Central Bedfordshire, although demand is estimated as higher than the national average. Additional courts are required now and in the future to meet anticipated demand.

Summary of 2012 Situation

- Existing provision per capita across Central Bedfordshire for squash is just below the average for England, while demand is estimated from national participation rates at about 10-20% above the average. Evidence suggests that squash courts and centres are already under some pressure, particularly in the south of the county.
- Comparing supply with estimated demand, it is suggested that there is an existing shortfall of about 3-5 courts to meet current demand. In particular there is a need for venues with at least three courts.
- Quality is generally fair and overall accessibility to existing courts is good.
- Additional squash provision (minimum 3 courts) should therefore be considered either
 as free standing centres in 1-2 locations or more probably as part of the development
 of any multi-use leisure centres arising from other sections of this assessment.

Future Provision

Unlike with sports halls and swimming pools, future provision was not assessed using the FPM or other Sport England tools. Future need for facilities is, however, dependent on any increase in population. The impact of the increased population is mitigated by the ageing of the population, who traditionally have lower activity rates. It is likely that additional squash courts might be required in the next 10-15 years over and above current increased requirement to meet future demand.

Consultation

Consultation 1

Consultation took place in the same way as for halls and pools. The governing bodies of squash were consulted and highlighted the following at the first consultation stage:

- There is a lack of squash facilities particularly in the south of the county, and three court venues would be supported. In public venues, clubs should be encouraged to prosper
- There is a need to consider the provision of larger venues with at least 3 courts to satisfy the requirements of the governing body for development programmes.

Key Issues

The Audit and Assessment led to the development of a range of issue and options which are set out in more detail in the Issues and Options Report. These form the basis of the preferred options and policies set out in the main strategy below. In summary the key issues are:

• The assessment has found that squash provision in Central Bedfordshire is at about the national average, although it is likely that demand is higher. There is some evidence

from the governing bodies of a shortfall of courts to meet local demand, including in the adjacent area of Luton, where courts have recently closed.

- Quality and condition are considered to be fair/good, but need to be maintained to keep facilities fit for purpose over the period of the strategy
- The additional population in the new housing areas will significantly increase the demand for squash centres in the future. New provision could take place within the new housing areas, or be more centrally located to meet the demand from both these and existing built up areas.

Consultation 2

No comments were received specifically on squash facilities.

Indoor Bowls

Overview

The supply of indoor bowls centres in Central Bedfordshire is low but accessibility to other centres in the region is good. A case can be made for additional provision but further feasibility is required.

Summary of 2012 Situation

- There is one indoor bowls centre in Central Bedfordshire with 6 rinks, but a large number of other centres within a 30-minute drive in adjacent LA areas. Existing provision for indoor bowls in the area is very low compared with the county, regional and national averages. The supply/demand balance is also very low, although personal share is above the national average and in line with the local situation, because of the existence of the other local centres outside Central Bedfordshire.
- Almost two thirds of local residents can access a bowls centre within a 20-minute drive.
 Accessibility by car is good in the south of Central Bedfordshire, but poorer in the
 northern part where indoor bowls is only available in adjacent LA areas. Quality is
 broadly good.
- The SFC estimates that at present there is sufficient demand in Central Bedfordshire at normal participation rates for 2.75 centres, or about 16.5 rinks in community use. This compares with current provision of one 6-rink centre. There appears to be a significant shortfall for indoor bowls from this assessment. Due to the poor local provision for indoor bowls in the area, a case can be made for the provision of an additional centre in the central, east or west part of Central Bedfordshire at the present time. The governing body considers however, that local provision is acceptable and that the existing club is being encouraged to increase its membership. At the same time there is some spare capacity at existing clubs and centres, particularly in Luton and Bedford. Nevertheless the location of the existing centre does not meet the needs of the whole of Central Bedfordshire, which relies on neighbouring areas to meet much of its demand. Further research is required to assess whether any of the usage of neighbouring centres might be displaced if an additional or replacement centre is built in Central Bedfordshire.

Future Provision

As with other facilities, future need is dependent on any increase in population, which
is mitigated by the ageing of the population. Conversely an ageing population might
offer an opportunity to increase bowls provision. It is likely that additional rink space
might be required in the next 10-15 years over and above current increased
requirement.

Consultation

Consultation 1

Consultation took place in the same way as for halls and pools. The governing bodies and local operators were consulted and highlighted the following at the first consultation stage:

- There is no endorsement from the NGB for additional indoor bowls in Central Bedfordshire at the present, though population changes should be monitored to take into account the future situation up to 2021.
- If Dunstable Leisure Centre were to be relocated there is merit in considering a more central location for indoor bowls in Central Bedfordshire.
- There is a need to improve the quality of the existing centre (if retained) to ensure fitness for purpose.
- Two clubs had significant spare capacity for additional members, although they
 suggested that the future of each facility was not in jeopardy. Membership had
 dropped over the years as the result of an ageing clientele, the lack of spare leisure
 time and the inability to attract new younger members.
- Three other clubs were operating at or about capacity, and there was little opportunity to accommodate significant additional usage. The position locally therefore is varied and maybe usage depends as much on management and promotion as underlying strategic issues.

Key Issues

The Audit and Assessment led to the development of a range of issue and options which are set out in more detail in the Issues and Options Report. These form the basis of the preferred options and policies set out in the main strategy below. In summary the key issues are:

- There is a shortage of indoor bowls in Central Bedfordshire, but local residents have good access to centres in nearby LA areas. The need for one additional centre or more in Central Bedfordshire needs careful consideration to ensure that usage is not displaced from other centres, some of which are not well used.
- The existing centre in Dunstable does not cater for residents from a large part of Central Bedfordshire wishing to play bowls, and locations for new centres elsewhere in the area should be considered, if additional provision is made.
- Overall quality of the existing centre is considered to be good, but the strategy extends
 into the future when the current facility will be 15 years older. The existing indoor
 centre needs to be refurbished to ensure that it remains fit for purpose into the future
- The additional population in the new housing areas may significantly increase the demand for indoor bowls in the future. New provision could take place within the new

housing areas, or be more centrally located to meet the demand from both these and existing built up areas.

- Indoor bowls is very specialist facility and does not easily allow other sporting usage.
 However the feasibility of combining additional bowls provision in the future with other
 new sports facility development (short mat bowls, outdoor bowls or other sports) should
 be considered.
- There is a need to explore participation rates and facts relating to the ageing population, in view of the current declining membership of some of the local outdoor bowls centres and clubs

Consultation 2

Comments from English Indoor Bowls Association (EIBA) to be incorporated when available.

Indoor Tennis

Overview

There are no indoor tennis centres in Central Bedfordshire, together with an apparent shortage. Any new provision needs further feasibility to ascertain specific locations and number/s of courts required.

Summary of 2012 Situation

- There are no indoor tennis courts in Central Bedfordshire although there are 5 centres with 13 courts within 30 minutes from the centre of Central Bedfordshire. Potential players in part of the area particularly around Leighton Buzzard are not accommodated.
- On the basis of the average provision in the county/region, there is shortfall of 2-9 courts (compared with the national average the shortfall is 7 courts). Using LTA data on the average court provision required to accommodate demand, there is a shortfall of up to 13 courts.
- Despite the abundance of other centres outside Central Bedfordshire, there is some
 justification for the provision of indoor tennis at the present time in Central Bedfordshire,
 in the first instance on one site with 3 courts. Additional feasibility is required to
 ascertain the total number of new courts required over the strategy period and the
 best locations within the whole county.

Future Provision

• Unlike with sports halls and swimming pools, future provision was not assessed using the FPM or other Sport England tools. Future need for facilities is, however, dependent on any increase in population. The impact of the increased population is mitigated by the ageing of the population, who traditionally have lower activity rates. However, if increased participation in accordance with SE targets is achieved, it is likely that additional indoor tennis court space will be required in the next 10-15 years.

Consultation

Consultation 1

Consultation took place in the same way as for halls and pools. The governing bodies and local operators were consulted and highlighted the following at the first consultation stage:

- There is a strong case for indoor tennis facilities in Central Bedfordshire, and the LTA is keen to work with the Central Bedfordshire Council and other NGB's to try and get some indoor facilities within the county.
- There are two possible locations based on the existing clubs in Leighton Buzzard and Flitwick.
- Joint use sites with other sports are acceptable as long as there is a dedicated tennis element on the site. It would make sense to work with the existing outdoor clubs to bring existing players to any potential new centre.

- Any type of structure or surface is acceptable dependent upon budget.
- Consultation with other local operators and clubs confirms that additional indoor courts
 are required both for casual play and for coaching and teaching of juniors, but that
 Central Bedfordshire is not necessarily the best location for a new facility in the county.

Key Issues

The Audit and Assessment led to the development of a range of issue and options which are set out in more detail in the Issues and Options Report. These form the basis of the preferred options and policies set out in the main strategy below. In summary the key issues are:

- There are no indoor tennis facilities in Central Bedfordshire, but local residents can gain access to centres in neighbouring districts, albeit that these centres are not as convenient as other indoor sports facilities. The need to accommodate indoor tennis demands within the area is an issue.
- There is an undoubted need for an indoor tennis centre with at least 3 courts in the county, but preferred locations at other existing clubs, where there is a more developed coaching and teaching infrastructure, outside Central Bedfordshire need consideration.
- The additional population in the new housing areas may significantly increase the demand for indoor tennis in the future. New provision could take place within the new housing areas, or be more centrally located to meet the demand from both these and existing built up areas.
- If a new centre is justified in Central Bedfordshire, the clubs with the best infrastructure are in Flitwick and Leighton Buzzard. It is preferable to link any new such provision with existing outdoor provision for tennis.
- The feasibility of combining limited indoor tennis provision in the future with other new sports facility development on a joint site must be considered. There may be a need for large halls for other sports e.g. netball, and these could be combined.
- The types of surface or structure, which might be appropriate in any new centres, should be considered.

Consultation 2

No comments specifically on indoor tennis were received.

Specialist Facilities

While it was outside the scope of the strategy to consider specialist facilities for sport, as the brief concentrated on community provision, nevertheless the initial consultation with governing bodies and others identified some specialist facility requirements, which have potential to be incorporated in existing or proposed new community sports halls. The results of these consultations, are set out below, and feed in to the subsequent section on issues and options.

- A need was identified for specialist facilities for gymnastics, but a realisation that this is not always feasible.
- A need was identified to consider the precise requirements of specialist gymnastics provision, either free standing or in conjunction with school or public sports hall.
- The design of new sports halls should consider incorporating gymnastics pit, additional storage and other requirements.
- The specialist needs of particular sports such as archery should be considered in future sports hall provision.
- Sports halls, in particular on school sites, may be appropriate locations for specialist use for indoor cricket and other activities.

PART 5: LEISURE FACILITIES STRATEGY

Chapter 1: Leisure Facilities Strategy - Policies

From the facilities Audit & Assessment evidence, a range of key facility issues and options were identified and refined in the Issues & Options Report. Consultation in November 2012 with Central Bedfordshire Council Members, Town and Parish Councils, sports clubs, sport governing bodies and the public, helped shape the preferred options which form the policies in this strategy. The policies are set out below.

In order to detail the delivery requirements of the policies identified below, and to prepare CIL and \$106 calculations, the next stage in the Leisure Facilities Strategy will be the preparation of a costed Action Plan for the first phase of the strategy delivery 2013-2018. The table in Part 9 of this strategy sets out the next steps.

The policies below are set out in Central Bedfordshire Council's Placemaking Areas.

DUNSTABLE & HOUGHTON REGIS (DHR)

Policy	Strategic Priorities	Short Term: 1-2 years	
		Medium Term: 2-7 years	
		Long Term: 7+ years	
DHR 1	Refurbishment of Dunstable Leisure Centre; to also incorporate facilities identified in policies DHR 7, 10 and 11 below.	Medium	
DHR 2	Provision of replacement of public leisure centre for Houghton Regis close to the site of the existing leisure centre, comprising 6 court sports hall, 6 lane 25m swimming pool and a range of other facilities, may also incorporate facilities identified in policies DHR 6, and 7 below.	Medium	
DHR 3	Market test re-opening of Houghton Regis pool in the short term pending longer term on development in HR.	Short	
	General Objectives		
DHR 4	Provision of new and improved leisure facilities required to maintain the current accessibility, supply and quality of leisure in the Dunstable/Houghton Regis area, to be detailed in the Strategy Action Plan.	Medium to Long	
DHR 5	Improve public access to existing school sports halls in the Dunstable/Houghton Regis area at Manshead and All Saints Academy Schools.	Short to Medium	
DHR 6	Provision of new health and fitness facilities required to meet the needs of new residential development in the Houghton Regis growth area.	Medium	
DHR 7	Provision of new and improved health and fitness facilities required to address the shortfall in the current supply, accessibility, and quality of health and fitness facilities in the Dunstable/Houghton	Medium to Long	

	Regis area.	
DHR 8	Provision of new small health and fitness facilities required to address the shortfall in the current supply, accessibility, and quality of health and fitness facilities in village & community halls in locations where accessibility to large facilities is an issue.	Medium to Long
DHR 9	Improve public access to existing school health and fitness facilities in the Dunstable/Houghton Regis area.	Short to Medium
DHR 10	Provision of additional health and fitness facilities at Dunstable Leisure Centre to address the shortfall in current supply.	Short
DHR 11	Provision of new and improved squash facilities required to address the shortfall in the current supply, accessibility, and quality of health and fitness facilities in the D/HR area.	Short
DHR 12	Provision of new squash facilities (3 courts) required to meet the needs of new residential development in the Houghton Regis growth area.	Medium
DHR 13	Improve public access to other squash facilities in the Dunstable/Houghton Regis area.	Medium to Long
DHR 14	Provision of new indoor bowls centre in the East, West or centre of Central Bedfordshire, if this cannot be achieved the refurbishment of indoor bowls centre at Dunstable Leisure Centre.	Long
DHR 15	Where indoor tennis facilities are unavailable within the area, consider enabling smaller scale covered facilities.	Medium to Long

WEST (W)

Policy	Strategic Priorities	Short Term: 1-2 years
		Medium Term: 2-7 years
		Long Term: 7+ years
W 1	Provision of replacement public leisure centre for Flitwick close to the site of the existing leisure centre, comprising 4 court sports hall, 8 lane swimming pool to also incorporate facilities identified in policies W4 and W7 below.	Short
	General Objectives	
W 2	Provision of new and improved leisure facilities required to maintain the current accessibility, supply and quality of leisure in the West area, to be detailed in the Strategy Action Plan.	Medium to Long
W 3	Improve public access to existing school sports halls in the West area: Redbourne School, Ampthill.	Short to Medium
W 4	Provision of new and improved health and fitness facilities required to address the shortfall in the current supply, accessibility, and quality of health and fitness facilities in the West area.	Medium to Long
W 5	Provision of new small health and fitness facilities required to address the shortfall in the current supply, accessibility, and quality of health and fitness facilities in village & community halls in locations where accessibility to large facilities is an issue.	Medium to Long
W 6	Improve public access to existing school health and fitness facilities in the West area.	Short to Medium
W 7	Provision of new and improved squash facilities required to address the shortfall in the current supply, accessibility, and quality of health and fitness facilities in the West area.	Medium to Long
W 8	Improve public access to other squash facilities in the West area.	Medium to Long

W 9	Provision of new indoor bowls centre in the East, West or centre of Central Bedfordshire.	Long
W 10	Provision of new 3 court indoor tennis centre in the Flitwick area.	Medium to Long
W 11	Where indoor tennis facilities are unavailable, assist Flitwick Tennis Club in the development of their facility.	Medium to Long

EAST (E)

Policy	Strategic Priorities	Short Term: 1-2 years Medium Term: 2-7 years	
		Long Term: 7+ years	
E 1	Refurbishment of Saxon Pool & Leisure Centre pool, provision of new 4 court sports hall.	Short	
E 2	Support development of joint use leisure facility incorporating a 4 court sports hall at Etonbury School, Arlesey.	Medium	
	General Objectives		
E 3	Provision of new and improved leisure required to maintain the current accessibility, supply and quality of leisure in the East area, to be detailed in the Strategy Action Plan.	Medium to Long	
E 4	Improve public access to existing school sports halls in the East area: Stratton Upper School, Biggleswade, Etonbury School, Arlesey, and Robert Bloomfield School, Shefford.	Short to Medium	
E 5	Provision of new and improved health and fitness facilities required to address the shortfall in the current supply, accessibility, and quality of health and fitness facilities in the East area.	Medium to Long	
E 6	Provision of new small health and fitness facilities required to address the shortfall in the current supply, accessibility, and quality of health and fitness facilities in village & community halls in locations where accessibility to large facilities is an issue.	Medium to Long	
E 7	Improve public access to existing school health and fitness facilities in the East area.	Short to Medium	
E 8	Provision of new and improved squash facilities required to address the shortfall in the current supply, accessibility, and quality of health and fitness facilities in the East area.	Medium to Long	
E 9	Improve public access to other squash facilities in the East area.	Medium to Long	

E 10	Provision of new indoor bowls centre in the East, West or centre of Central Bedfordshire.	Long

LEIGHTON BUZZARD & RURAL SOUTH (LB/RS)

Policy	Strategic Priorities	Short Term: 1-2 years
		Medium Term: 2-7 years
		Long Term: 7+ years
LB/RS 1	Refurbishment of Tiddenfoot Leisure Centre pool and sports hall.	Short 2012/13
LB/RS 2	Provision of new 4 court sports hall in Leighton Linslade Growth Area in conjunction with proposed housing development.	Long
LB/RS 3	Provision of replacement 8 lane swimming pool on the Tiddenfoot site in the longer term in conjunction with proposed housing development.	Long
	General Objectives	
LB/RS 4	Provision of new and improved facilities required to maintain the current accessibility, supply and quality of leisure in the Leighton Buzzard/Rural South area, to be detailed in the Strategy Action Plan.	Medium to Long
LB/RS 5	Improve public access to existing school sports halls in the Leighton Buzzard/Rural South area: Short to M Vandyke School.	
LB/RS 6	Provision of additional health and fitness facilities at Tiddenfoot Leisure Centre to address the shortfall in current supply.	
LB/RS 7	Provision of new and improved health and fitness facilities required to address the shortfall in the current supply, accessibility, and quality of health and fitness facilities in the LB/RS area.	Medium to Long
LB/RS 8	Provision of new small health and fitness facilities required to address the shortfall in the current supply, accessibility, and quality of health and fitness facilities in village & community halls in locations where accessibility to large facilities is an issue.	Medium to Long

LB/RS 9	Improve public access to existing school health and fitness facilities in the LB/RS area.	Short to Medium
LB/RS 10	Provision of new and improved squash facilities required to address the shortfall in the current supply, accessibility, and quality of health and fitness facilities in the LB/RS area.	Medium to Long
LB/RS 11	Improve public access to other squash facilities in the LB/RS area.	Medium to Long
LB/RS 12	Provision of new indoor bowls centre in the East, West or centre of Central Bedfordshire.	Long
LB/RS 13	Provision of new 3 court indoor tennis centre in the LB area.	Medium to Long
LB/RS 14	Where indoor tennis facilities are unavailable, assist Leighton Buzzard Tennis club in the development of their facility.	Medium to Long

Specialist Facilities

Specialist facilities are not the priority for this strategy but the following policies are included as being capable of implementation within the overall strategy.

- SF1 Identify in consultation with NGBs the sites that provide an existing specialist function and seek to protect and enhance this specialist role, and identify existing or new centres (that are proposed elsewhere in strategy) that could be designed to meet specialist needs where appropriate.
- SF 2 Incorporate where appropriate the specialist needs of other indoor sports at existing centres or when developing and designing new sports halls
 - Specialist requirements for archery, badminton and other sports not highlighted in consultation (table tennis, netball, cricket nets or other sports) should be incorporated in a hierarchy of sports halls) in a coordinated manner, particularly on school sites where management would be facilitated.
 - Pending more detailed consultation with NGBs in the area, there may be the opportunity to accommodate larger scale specialist facilities in the larger sports halls in Central Bedfordshire, including Cranfield and the other 6 court halls.
- SF 3 Implement innovative approaches to the provision of specialist facilities where appropriate.
 - Specialist facilities for some sports (e.g. gymnastics centres with pit etc.) could be accommodated at existing unused industrial and other non-sport premises. The biggest challenge is securing planning permission for change of use due to loss of employment. Planning policies should take a flexible approach to conversion of appropriate units to help facilitate this, which is more realistic than a specialist centre being built.

PART 6: FUNDING, PLANNING GUIDANCE AND IMPLEMENTATION

Funding

The delivery of the future leisure facility infrastructure across Central Bedfordshire will, to a large extent, be dependent on capital funding. The following proposals and comments are taken from a separate report produced for the Council in support of its capital planning.

The capital funding picture for municipal leisure facilities is in a state of flux. Local authority finances are under pressure and previous major national funding programmes such as Building Schools for the Future (BSF) and Regional Development Agency funding are no longer available. Some funding opportunities, however, still remain; for example, individual school capital grants have replaced BSF and Sport England now has more clearly defined capital available through its Places to Play Legacy funding programme. While the education capital funding programmes will continue to change over time, there will still be a need for investment to take place on school sites during the strategy period and opportunities for joint projects may arise.

Using assets innovatively will be a key feature of the next few years, as will working in partnership on a multi-agency approach. The Government is also seeking to ease planning red tape and encourage local communities to realise assets to deliver community benefits. This could mean the sale of surplus land and sites for housing and commercial uses, with receipts being released to fund prioritised community assets, which could include sports provision. The new National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) provides opportunities for investment through the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).

Given the potential level of funding required to refurbish or redevelop the leisure facility infrastructure across Central Bedfordshire it is therefore likely that investment will only be achieved through a combination of opportunities.

The main funding delivery mechanisms for Central Bedfordshire Council and others in delivering the strategy are:

- i. Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and Section 106 developer contributions: The Leisure Facilities Strategy aims to secure developer contributions in association with new development to provide or improve infrastructure.
- ii. **Capital Grant funding:** From schools and national agencies such as Sport England, including its Iconic Facilities, Improvement Fund and Inspired Facilities programmes. National Governing Body (NGB) support could also be available to develop specific specialist facilities.
- iii. **Third party funding**: Financing capital through the forecast operational surplus and finance packages as part of the leisure management procurement process or construction contracts. Also, leisure management operators are asked as part of their consideration, to fund developments of health and fitness suites and small refurbishments of existing leisure centre sites.

- iv. **Commercial sector funding:** limited potential for investment from commercial leisure operators such as those who provide health and fitness centre and 5 a-side artificial pitch football centres.
- v. **Council funding:** including use of capital receipts from the sale of existing assets.
- vi. **Prudential Borrowing:** or 'spend to save': the local authority may choose to use revenue savings or income from its investment to pay for monies used for capital development, which may be cheaper than an operator can borrow.

Planning Policy

For many years, certainly since before PPG17 was first produced in 1991, the 'standards' approach has been a fundamental part of delivering future facility provision, on the basis of a per head level of provision e.g. 6 acres of recreational open space per 1000 people and more recently $x m^2$ of sports hall space per 1000. This enabled an easy-to-calculate method of delivery, but was inflexible, difficult to manage and implement and generally ineffective in securing larger facilities other than recreational open space. More recent advice contained in the NPPF and from Sport England is leading towards a new system based on actual needs as identified by robust assessments such as that carried out in this strategy.

This new system requires the development of sound planning policies which are derived from evidence of need, thorough assessment and consultation with stakeholders. In Central Bedfordshire's case, the timescales for this Leisure Strategy do not align with the emerging Development Strategy, so a 'hook' has been created in the Development Strategy for leisure provision, and this will be amended when the Leisure Strategy is complete (see Policy 22 Leisure and Open Space Provision). This strategy will ensure the appropriate provision of sport and recreation facilities to meet needs of the Central Bedfordshire population now and to 2031, ensure new development makes appropriate provision for new residents, addresses health issues by early intervention, preventative measures and marries with the Council's public health responsibilities from 2013.

Housing Growth

Over the next 20 years it is planned that Central Bedfordshire will see a growth of 28,700 new homes. In planning for growth Central Bedfordshire Council must ensure that its policy for indoor sports facilities seeks to provide a range of good quality, accessible facilities which support its residents in leading healthy, active lives.

The Leisure Facilities Strategy Action Plan will detail the priorities for new and improved built leisure facilities to be provided in Central Bedfordshire, together with that required in association with new development. Where applicable, particularly on large developments, on-site provision of built leisure facilities will be required. On smaller developments, however, the provision of on-site built leisure facilities is unlikely to be required in which case developer contributions would be sought towards the facility requirements identified in the Action Plan.

Developer Contributions

\$106/CIL

In preceding years, local authorities have sought and secured developer contributions for local physical and social infrastructure through Section 106 (and other provisions) of the various Planning Acts. Strict regulations have controlled these contributions in order that they are reasonable and proportionate to the development, and in principle are necessary for the development to be acceptable in planning terms.

From April 2014 the legislation covering Section 106 developer contributions will change. Local authorities will no longer be able to pool more than 5 secured \$106 contributions to fund infrastructure projects. Projects which currently rely on funding from a wide number of tariff-based Planning Obligation contributions will instead need to be secured via the new Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). For example, education contributions which were previously pooled and allocated to a new school or building extension at a later time will now have to seek such funding through CIL.

\$106 agreements will remain available but in the main they may only be used to secure new or improved infrastructure which is either site specific or immediately available to the development, e.g. affordable housing, children's play facilities, community centre. A maximum of 5 contributions can be used to fund one specific infrastructure project which must not also be funded from CIL.

Adoption of CIL is not mandatory but Government regulation requires charging authorities to enter into a two stage consultation process to formally decide what CIL charges are to be introduced prior to adoption. Central Bedfordshire Council is currently developing its Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule and will be undertaking its initial consultation in January 2013, with the following consultation later in the summer. The charge must reflect the latest statutory government guidance (December 2012) and be set at a level capable of providing significant contributions to infrastructure funding but without undermining the overall viability of development in its area. In the process of adopting a charge, the Council will need to decide which infrastructure projects it intends to prioritise with CIL funds.

For projects that may be candidates to be funded in whole or part from CIL contributions, such as the main leisure centre projects, it is important for estimated costings to be provided (which can be refined and reviewed over time) which can be included in the Council's Infrastructure Delivery Schedule. This document is used to demonstrate both the need for important local infrastructure and the existence of a substantial funding gap between the cost of such projects and the funding currently available to the Council.

Planning Inspectors' recent interpretation of CIL regulations in respect of ongoing \$106 is that (following production of the evidence base) unless specific sports facility projects have been identified and costed that contributions will be used towards, it will not be legitimate to secure \$106 contributions from that development i.e. the past practice of local authorities securing contributions from developers that would be pooled and then used towards funding projects to be identified at a later date by the local authority will no longer be supported. Local authorities will need to set out known site-specific items for which \$106 contributions may continue to be sought in addition to and distinct from its CIL priorities.

A basic example of the CIL charging methodology is considered below, as a broad indication of calculating the cost of recommended provision (figures are illustrative only). The precise methodology needs to be worked up in greater detail and kept under constant review to ensure up to date information is included.

Cost of provision of new facilities in the strategy
Cost of refurbishment of facilities
Cost of other management solutions
say £15m
say £5m

Total cost say £30m

Cost per house up to 2031 = £30 m/35,000 = £850.

It should be noted however that Affordable Housing is not required to pay a CIL charge and that Charging Authorities, notwithstanding the extent of local infrastructure needs, cannot introduce a CIL charge unless it can demonstrate at an examination in public that the charge level is viable.

In addition, the costings will be used to update the existing Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Documents for the north and south of Central Bedfordshire and to evidence a new Unitary Planning Obligations SPD for Central Bedfordshire should the Council to decide to produce such a document to accompany the introduction of its CIL charge.

Leisure Strategy Approach to CIL/S106

For large off-site projects, such as the main leisure centres, where contributions will be secured through CIL, the new legislation requires that the facility requirements identified in local authority strategies must be have estimated costings. These costings can then be used to inform the Council's Infrastructure Charging Schedule.

This strategy will adopt latest guidance and prepare a costed Action Plan from which a CIL charge will be developed.

The evidence gathered in the production of this strategy indicates that the majority of investment in new and improved facilities is required to meet the needs of Central Bedfordshire's existing population in 2012. It would not therefore, be inequitable to apportion the cost of delivering the new and improved facilities solely to new housing development.

In order to meet the CIL charging tests the Strategy Action Plan Year 1 priority will be to develop a calculation which seeks to apportion appropriate facility costs to be sought from new development.

In addition, the costings will be used to update the existing Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Documents for the north and south of Central Bedfordshire.

PART 7: DESIGN GUIDANCE

New and enhanced sports facilities will be expected to be designed in accordance with the relevant Sport England and (where applicable) NGB design guidance in order to ensure that the facilities are fit for purpose and of a suitable quality.

PART 8: MONITORING AND REVIEW

This strategy has been produced to enable the development of built sports facilities within Central Bedfordshire to be provided for in a planned and co-ordinated way that meets the needs of the local population and addresses areas of greatest demand.

In order to ensure that the Leisure Facilities Strategy requirements keep pace with the large amount of growth planned for Central Bedfordshire, a costed Action Plan will be prepared for the period 2013–2018. The Plan will be then reviewed and updated annually.

A full review of the strategy will be undertaken in 2017 in readiness for the 2018-2022 action plan period. In addition to reviewing the achievements of the action plan for the 2013-2018 period, the review will need to assess the full basis of calculating sports facilities requirements for Central Bedfordshire and emerging sporting trends and health issues that will have an impact on this. This will also involve a full reassessment of the following baseline criteria:

- Housing numbers
- Population estimates, both ONS and internal projections
- Full socio-economic and demographic analysis of population projections
- Participation rates (e.g. Active People Surveys) and new sport trend analysis and uptake levels
- Updated facility data including usage, accessibility, affordability, management and facility improvements
- Evolving needs of clubs and governing bodies, and any requirements for major facilities in the area
- Analysis of funding sources and new funding opportunities for the provision/improvement of sports facilities
- Review of growth of emerging sports, their participation rates, facilities available for them and likely facilities necessary for their support and development

PART 9: NEXT STEPS

In order to detail the facility requirements identified in Part 5 of the strategy and prepare CIL and \$106 calculations, a costed Action Plan will be prepared for the first phase of the strategy delivery 2013-2018. The table below sets out the next steps for completion of the Leisure Facilities Strategy.

No	Objective	Key Milestones & Task	Target Date
1	Develop a fully costed Facilities Action Plan 2013-2018 detailing the new and improved facility requirements to meet planning policy objectives	Action Plan completed Mar/Apr 2013 Action Plan costed May/Jun 2013	Jun 2013
2	Develop a detailed methodology for calculating contributions for CIL and \$106 for inclusion in Leisure Strategy Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) and the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and Section 106 Planning Obligations Strategy		Jul/Aug 2013
3	Consider Central Bedfordshire Council capital expenditure priorities	Executive Jan/Feb 2013	

GLOSSARY OF TERMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

APP - Active Places Power. Sport England database containing information on sports facilities throughout England

CB - Central Bedfordshire

CBC - Central Bedfordshire Council

Community use – use of a sport s facility by the wider community, either on a pay or play basis or available through block bookings by clubs.

FPM - Facilities Planning Model

Sport England facility modelling system, testing:

Satisfied demand – demand for a specific type of sports facility which is met because local residents can access it within a reasonable travel time by car, public transport or on foot (20 minutes), and there is some spare capacity within the facility

Unmet demand - demand for a facility that is not satisfied

Utilised capacity – the amount of the overall capacity of a facility that the FPM estimates is used

Personal/relative share – the share of the opportunity which people have to use facilities, taking into account the number, size and availability of facilities, and the local population which has access to them

HRLCAG - Houghton Regis Leisure Centre Action Group

HRHCBC - Houghton Regis Hard Core Badminton Club

LA – Local authority

LTA – Lawn Tennis Association

NGB – national governing body of sport

NPPF - National Planning Policy Framework published by the Government in 2011

ONS – Office of National Statistics

PPG17 – Planning Policy Guidance Note 17 published by the Government in 1991 (revised 2002) giving guidance on planning for sport, recreation and open space

NPPF - National Planning Policy Framework published by the Government on 27 March 2012, key part of Government reforms to make the planning system less complex and more accessible, to protect the environment and to promote sustainable growth

ROSA - Rest of the study area (comprising the local authority areas adjoining CB)

SFC - Sports Facilities Calculator. Sport England calculation system to assess demand for key community sports facilities